# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 5/2/2019 8:00 AM

No. 97152-8

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 35601-8-III)

CROWN WEST REALTY, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

### STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW OF CROWN WEST REALTY, LLC

Daniel J. Appel, WSBA #35544
FOREMAN, APPEL, HOTCHKISS & ZIMMERMAN, PLLC
124 N. Wenatchee Ave., Suite A
Wenatchee, WA 98801
(509) 662-9602
Attorneys for Crown West Realty, LLC

Mark Peterson, WSBA #22325
PETERSON & MARQUIS
1227 First Street
Wenatchee, WA 98801
(509) 264-1882
Attorneys for Crown West Realty, LLC

#### **

I.	Identity of Petitioner
II.	Decision
III.	Issues Presented for Review
IV.	Statement of the Case
V.	Argument 6
	A. Interpretation of the Water Code Is an Issue of Significant Public Importance
	B. The COA and the PCHB Erred in Their Decisions 13
VI.	Conclusion
VII.	Appendix

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

#### Cases

Cornelius v. Wash. Dep't of Ecology, 182 Wn.2d 574, 344 P.3d 199 (2015)				
Crown West Realty, LLC v. Pollution Control Hearings Board, Wn. App, 435 P.3d 288 (2019)passim				
Lummi Indian Nation v. State, 170 Wn.2d 247, 241 P.3d 1220 (2010)				
State of Wash., Dep't of Ecology v. Theodoratus, 135 Wn.2d 582, 957 P.2d 1241 (1998)				
Statutes, Administrative Codes, Court Rules				
RCW 34.05.518				
RCW 90.03.015(4)				
90.14.140(2)(d)				
Laws of 2003, 1st Spec. Sess., Ch. 5				
WAC 246-290-020				
RAP 13.4				

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Crown West Realty, LLC ("Crown") asks the Court to grant review of and reverse the decision entered by the Court of Appeals, Division III ("COA"), as designated below.

#### II. DECISION

Crown seeks review of the COA's opinion entered February 26, 2019, *Crown West Realty, LLC v. Pollution Control Hearings Board*, \_\_ Wn. App. \_\_, 435 P.3d 288 (2019). A copy of the decision is attached. Appendix ("App.") 1-48. Crown filed a motion for reconsideration, which the COA denied on April 2, 2019. App. 49.

The COA affirmed the decision of the Pollution Control Hearings Board ("PCHB" or "Board") dated July 25, 2017. The Board granted Respondent Department of Ecology's ("Ecology") summary judgment motion in part, determining that Crown's water rights are not being actively used for municipal water supply purposes under RCW 90.03.015(4). Upon Crown's motion, which Ecology did not oppose, the Board granted a Certificate of Appealability dated September 15, 2017. The COA granted Crown's motion for discretionary review and considered the matter directly.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the PCHB and the COA err in determining that Crown's water rights fail to comply with the definition of "municipal water supply purposes" under RCW 90.03.015(4)?
- 2. Did the PCHB err in determining, and the COA err in affirming, the conclusion that, solely as the result of finding that Crown's rights were not municipal, the tentative determinations of the validity and extent of Crown's water rights were flawed?
- 3. Did the COA err by considering issues not on appeal and refusing to remand the case to the PCHB for further factual findings after adopting a different legal standard than the PCHB?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1942, the Navy established a supply depot on the property that is now the Spokane Industrial Park ("Park"). Administrative Record ("AR") 000097. Three wells were drilled that year to supply the depot with water. *Id.* Three groundwater rights claims document these wells with a priority of December 1942. AR 000085-89. The Navy operated the depot until 1958, *id.*, and Ecology admits the Navy's use of the water during this period met the definition of municipal water supply purposes. AR 000194 (Dep. of Hutton at 46:10-19).

In 1960, the Navy sold the depot to the Spokane Industrial Park, Inc. AR 000137. The water rights have consistently "served thousands of persons' basic potable needs through lunch rooms, bathrooms, and other potable requirements." *Id.* In 1998, a hotel with 65 rooms was constructed and has operated at high capacity ever since. *Id.* at 000137-38. By 2016, the Park served as the primary place of business for 194 business with 5,000-6,000 employees served by 338 water service connections. AR 000228. The use of water in the Park includes the full range of residential uses, including washing, cooking, drinking, bathing, irrigation, and the like. AR 000247.

The Park's water system is also intertied with the Consolidated Irrigation District #19, which provides thousands of residential service connections. 000251. The intertie allows either party to the agreement to draw water from the other's system in the event of an emergency. 000450-51. The parties have not yet had need for such use, but water system maintenance is regularly performed on the valves to ensure they would work correctly in an emergency in a manner that necessarily causes water to be exchanged between the purveyors. 000448-49.

On November 5, 1973, the Park applied for an additional groundwater permit to be used with a fourth well, which would be integrated into a common system with the other three wells. AR 000097. Ecology

granted a permit in 1974 and a certificate in 1976 for this use. *Id.*; AR 00082-83.

In March of 2016, Crown filed four applications with the Chelan County Water Conservancy Board ("CCWCB") to change these water rights (the three claims and the one certificate), requesting, among other things, all of them to be conformed as being for municipal water purposes and temporarily donating some portion of the water to the State Trust Water Rights Program for instream flows and mitigation of other uses. AR 000053-71. The CCWCB issued four conditional decisions granting these applications, making tentative determinations that the water rights were valid and eligible for change to the full extent specified on the water rights documents. AR 000091-141. The CCWCB also ruled that Crown met the definition of a municipal water supplier. *Id.*; *see* AR 000135-41.

On September 20, 2016, Ecology reversed the CCWCB's decision and denied Crown's change applications for a number of reasons. AR 00002-6. As relevant here, Ecology ruled Crown had failed to demonstrate that the water rights qualified as being for municipal supply purposes and,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Ecology stated the CCWCB failed to (1) perform an adequate tentative determination of the extent and validity of the water rights; (2) demonstrate active compliance with the definition of municipal water supply purposes; (3) make a finding that the approval will not increase the annual consumptive quantity; (4) describe how other existing rights in the place of use would be exercised; (5) affirm that the proposed change will not impair existing water rights; (6) properly perform a consumptive analysis to determine the quantities of water that could be transferred to trust; and (7) demonstrate the approval would not be detrimental to the public interest.

solely as a result of this failure, that the tentative determinations of the extent and validity of the water rights were inadequate. *Id*.

Crown appealed to the PCHB, and both parties moved for summary judgment. AR 000030-49; 000312-57. Of the many issues presented, the Board granted Ecology's motion on two. AR 000605-06. The Board determined that Crown had failed to demonstrate that its water rights qualified as being for municipal purposes through active compliance with the definition of "municipal water supply purposes" under RCW 90.03.015(4). Solely on that basis, the Board determined that the CCWCB's tentative determinations of the extent and validity of Crown's water rights were also flawed to the extent that they relied upon this characterization of the rights. The Board did not reach any other issues in the motions, including any issue related to the trust water statute.

Crown asked the Board to issue a certificate of appealability under RCW 34.05.518(6). AR 00610-12. Ecology did not oppose the motion, and the Board granted it, finding that the purely legal issue of municipal water rights is of statewide importance. AR 000620-25. Crown filed a notice of discretionary review and asked the COA to accept direct review of the Board's decision, which it did.

The COA affirmed the PCHB's ruling in part, holding that the Crown's use of water must comply with the statutory definition of

"municipal water supply purposes" at the time of its change-of-use application. The COA further determined that Crown's water use did not meet this definition at that time. The details of this holding are discussed below.

#### V. ARGUMENT

## A. <u>Interpretation of the Water Code Is an Issue of Significant</u> Public Importance.

The central issue in this case is the proper interpretation and application of "municipal water supply purposes" in RCW 90.03.015(4). Before the COA's opinion in this case, no court had interpreted this definition for purposes of determining when a water purveyor must meet the definition to protect its water rights from relinquishment under RCW 90.14.140(2)(d) or to interpret the phrase "residential use for a nonresident population." As the PCHB noted, these purely legal issues are of statewide importance, and this Court should definitively decide them. AR 000620-25; RAP 13.4(b)(4).

This Court once ruled that water rights should only be certificated to the extent of use, not system capacity, unlike Ecology's previous practice of issuing "pumps and pipes" certificates. *State of Wash.*, *Dep't of Ecology v. Theodoratus*, 135 Wn.2d 582, 587, 957 P.2d 1241 (1998). This decision expressly stated that this finding did not apply to municipal water rights. *Id.* 

at 594. Nevertheless, Ecology took the position that this decision did apply to what it saw as "inchoate" municipal rights. The legislature responded to Ecology's stated interpretation in 2003 by passing a law relating to municipal water rights, *see* Laws of 2003, 1st Spec. Sess., Ch. 5 ("Municipal Water Law" or "MWL"), *Lummi Indian Nation v. State*, 170 Wn.2d 247, 251, 241 P.3d 1220 (2010), which defined "certain nongovernmental water suppliers as municipal and [made] that definition retroactive," *id*.

The relevant definition is codified at RCW 90.03.015(4) and reads in part:

"Municipal water supply purposes" means a beneficial use of water: (a) For residential purposes through fifteen or more residential service connections or for providing residential use of water for a nonresidential population that is, on average, at least twenty-five people for at least sixty days a year; (b) for governmental or governmental proprietary purposes by a city, town, public utility district, county, sewer district, or water district; or (c) indirectly for the purposes in (a) or (b) of this subsection through the delivery of treated or raw water to a public water system for such use. If water is beneficially used under a water right for the purposes listed in (a), (b), or (c) of this subsection, any other beneficial use of water under the right generally associated with the use of water within a municipality is also for "municipal water supply purposes," including, but not limited to, beneficial use for commercial, industrial, irrigation of parks and open spaces, institutional, landscaping, fire flow, water system maintenance and repair, or related purposes.

Several aspects of this definition are at issue in this case. First, the question arises of when a water purveyor must meet this definition. Ecology

has taken the position, which the PCHB adopted, that municipal water suppliers must beneficially use water for a proper municipal purpose at least once every five years. In other words, the standard is one of active compliance. If the water right is not used within that five-year period, it no longer qualifies as a municipal water right and is subject to relinquishment. Ecology adopted an advisory interpretive policy, POL 2030, that takes this view. AR 000143.

If a water right does not meet the definition of a water right for municipal water supply purposes for 5 or more years, or does not otherwise qualify for the relinquishment exception . . . , then the water right would be valid only to the extent it had been beneficially used during that period, with any non-use resulting in relinquishment of the right . . . .

#### AR 000145 (¶ 9(d)).

The COA rejected this section of POL 2030, finding that the purveyor must meet the statutory definition only at the time of the application. However, it also rejected Crown's position that a water right retains its original municipal character, which suggests that municipal rights are subject to some kind of relinquishment. App. at 29-35. Given its determination that Crown did not meet the definition at the time of its application to change use, the court did not further opine on the issue.

In other words, the COA appeared to reject Ecology and the PCHB's interpretation (active compliance in each five-year period) and Crown's

interpretation (once a municipal, always a municipal), in favor of a third position. The COA focused on the time of the change of use application as determinative for demonstrating municipal status, but the ramifications of this position are not clear, in particular, how the COA's position squares with this Court's analysis in *Cornelius v. Wash. Dep't of Ecology*, 182 Wn.2d 574, 344 P.3d 199 (2015), in which the Court determined that a streamlined process—which ignored any historical analysis of the water right's usage—was permissible. 182 Wn.2d at 595. The Court should grant review to determine this issue; the active compliance standard has drawn the close interest of major municipal water purveyors in this state. Their concern underscores the importance of this issue to the public interest.

Second, the phrase "residential use of water for a nonresidential population" must be interpreted. The PCHB without analysis concluded this language was ambiguous and deferred to Ecology's interpretation in POL-2030. AR 000603. Calling the statutory language an "oxymoron," App. at 1, the COA nevertheless strained to give it a meaning that essentially renders it meaningless. The court opined that such water must be used by nonresidents in residences. App. at 43. These residences require more than an overnight stay, but less than a permanent home. They are, per the COA, "temporary residences." *Id.* Given the other statutory language that speaks of numbers ("on average, at least twenty-five people for at least sixty days

a year"), it is indeed a strange category. According to Ecology, this language refers to vacation houses and farm worker housing. The COA suggests the category may be slightly broader but refuses to say just how broad. *Id.* at 46. Nor does the court explicitly opine on Ecology's position that the *same* twenty-five people must reside in these temporary domiciles for sixty days a year, a conclusion important in this case given the hotel that operates in the Park.

Finally, RCW 90.03.015(4)(c) considers indirect use of water for a municipal purpose to also be a municipal use. The COA dismissed the emergency intertie between Crown's system and an adjacent irrigation district that provides water to numerous residences on the grounds that it has not been used other than to test the valves. The court concluded that more than testing is required, even though the statute does not specify any amount and water system maintenance is specifically listed without regard to quantity in RCW 90.03.015(4).

This sketch illustrates the importance of these issues. Municipal status is extremely important to water purveyors because, among other things, it protects their perfected water rights from relinquishment. This allows them to fulfill their statutory obligation to plan and provide future water resources to communities that may see their water demands ebb, flow, and change over long periods of time in a manner that might otherwise cause

their water rights to relinquish. This case presents the Court with the opportunity to interpret the 2003 Municipal Water Law and its definition of "municipal water supply purposes," the operative language adopted in direct response to *Theodoratus* and the uncertainty it engendered. As the PCHB noted, these legal issues are important, and any ruling would have "significant statewide precedential value." AR 000624. Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), the Court should consider these issues of substantial public interest. Indeed, given that most water Washington residents use for drinking, cooking, cleaning, and bathing is provided by municipal purveyors, few issues are of greater significance to the public.

The interest demonstrated and explained by several amicus briefs from municipal provider groups representing dozens of public entities serving directly or indirectly nearly every human in the state further supports a finding of the statewide importance of the issue.

#### B. The COA and the PCHB Erred in Their Decisions.

The importance of this Court's review is underscored by the COA's critical mistakes that tainted its analysis of these issues. When interpreting RCW 90.03.015(4), the central issue in this case, the COA mistakenly discounted DOH regulations as the basis of the municipal water law definition, stating that Crown operates a "private" water system. But Crown is a public water purveyor subject to DOH regulations. WAC 246-290-

020(1). The COA ignored the clear parallels between the RCW 90.03.015(4) and WAC 246-290-020. When drafting the former, the legislature specifically chose several numbers: (1) *fifteen* residential service connections; and (2) a nonresidential population of on average, at least *twenty-five* people for at least *sixty* days a year. From where did these numbers originate? By far the most natural explanation is they originated from the DOH's Group A regulations in WAC 246-290-020 which preexisted the 2003 legislation.

The Group A regulations cover water systems serving *fifteen* residential service connections (Group A community systems) to those serving *twenty-five* different people for *sixty* days a year (Group A noncommunity, transient systems). WAC 246-290-020(5)(a)-(b). The legislature chose the exact same numbers in the exact same order when defining municipal water supply purposes. This is no coincidence. Rather, the legislature borrowed from the definitions at both ends of the Group A regulations, thereby creating a broad class of municipal uses.

As the PCHB observed, even Ecology recognizes the heavy debt the MWL owes to DOH regulations, incorporating them into its Policy 2030 interpreting the statute. AR at 600, 145-46. But Ecology adopts only those portions that suit its purposes. It uses the Group A community definition of fifteen residential connections but flatly rejects the obvious parallel to the

Group A non-community, transient definition of twenty-five people for sixty days. AR 145-46.

Likewise, the COA avoided placing any import on these numbers in the statutory definition. Instead, it emphasized the word "residential" and interpreted it such that the proposed definition may not cover many actual uses. Despite expressly recognizing the susceptibility of its interpretation to the charge of absurdity, the COA nonetheless saw no problem with its analysis because "nonresidents may temporarily use home-like environments as temporary residences." App. at 43. In this conclusion, the COA ignored the numerical standards of the statute, suggesting that "independent living for weeks" or "more than one or two overnight stays" would suffice. *Id.* at 42-43.

The COA's interpretation of "residential" is at odds with the large numbers required by the statute. It is hard to imagine how the COA's interpretation might realistically be met. Vacation homes (and surely it must be homes rather than a home for the twenty-five people number to work out) that are not residences, temporary worker housing (again, a large number of houses), or an extended stay hotel (but not a regular hotel) are suggested as possibilities. Vacation homes would not likely accommodate twenty-five people for sixty days without also meeting the fifteen residential

connection standard, thus obviating any meaning to the nonresidential definition.

It is indeed hard to divine the policy rationale behind the legislature's apparent concern that such specific and uncommon uses<sup>2</sup> gain the benefits of municipal status when public health uses such as restaurants, businesses, hotels, schools, day care centers, campgrounds, churches, and other similar uses are not deserving of similar considerations. If the purpose of the municipal exemption is to protect water rights used for providing potable water to meet the fundamental needs of the populace in all of the locations they frequent on a daily basis, such a definition is indeed perplexing.

The COA does not expressly say whether it agrees with Ecology that the *same* (a word not present in the statute) twenty-five people must use these domiciles for sixty days or whether different people may suffice. Clarity on this point is essential. If different people are aggregated to meet the definition, then the hotel in Crown's service area easily suffices. The conservancy board found that the Park's La Quinta Inn & Suites has sixty-five rooms that accommodate five people each and are typically booked full

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> It must be remembered that these uses would be connected to a water system that would not otherwise qualify as municipal, or these definitions would be superfluous.

months in advance. AR 137-38. Each person staying there gets a free breakfast prepared on site by the hotel as part of the room rental. *Id*.

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