FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/30/2019 4:50 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97152-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CROWN WEST REALTY, LLC,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY, POLLUTION CONTROL HEARINGS BOARD,

Respondents.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Alan M. Reichman, WSBA# 23874 Senior Counsel Clifford Kato, WSBA # 46858 Assistant Attorney General P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504-0117 360-586-6770 OID# 91024

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitions for review are governed by the four criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Crown West contends that its Petition meets one of these criteria: that it involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4); *see* Petition at 6. Crown West cannot satisfy this criterion.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Presents No Issue of Substantial Public Importance That Should Be Determined by the Supreme Court

Crown West correctly explains that the Court of Appeals accepted direct review of the Hearings Board's decision under RCW 34.05.518, and that Ecology did not oppose Crown West's request to bypass the superior

court. One of the criteria for the Court of Appeals to grant direct review of a decision by an environmental hearings board is that "[f]undamental and urgent statewide or regional issues are raised." RCW 34.05.518(3)(b)(i).

Ecology acknowledged that the issue in this case over interpretation of the term "municipal water supply purposes" in RCW 90.03.015(4) was a fundamental and urgent statewide issue and that a decision by the Court of Appeals would provide clarity to Ecology and water right holders throughout the state. At that time, there were no appellate decisions interpreting RCW 90.03.015(4). However, since the Court of Appeals has issued a well-reasoned and correctly decided published opinion, it is now unnecessary for this Court to accept this case for review. The Court of Appeals has provided clarity on the interpretation of RCW 90.03.015(4), and how Ecology should apply it on a statewide basis. Accordingly, under RAP 13.4(b)(4), this case does not involve an issue "of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

B. The Decisions of the Court of Appeals and the Hearings Board Are Correct

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Hearings Board's decision that Crown West's four water rights are not for municipal water supply purposes under RCW 90.03.015(4) and are therefore not exempt

from relinquishment. This ruling was based upon the Court's conclusions that a water right must be used for one of the municipal water supply purposes defined in RCW 90.03.015(4) to qualify for the municipal relinquishment exemption, and a water right must be evaluated for compliance with the municipal purposes at the time an application for a water right change is filed. Petition Appendix (App.) at 28, 30–32. Because Crown West's water rights were not used for any of the prescribed municipal purposes at the time they were proposed for change, the Court properly concluded the rights did not qualify for the municipal exemption.

In particular, the Court determined Crown West's water rights were not beneficially used "for providing residential use of water for a nonresidential population that is, on average, at least twenty-five people for at least sixty days a year." Crown West advanced an expansive interpretation of this provision, asserting that it included serving potable water to employees at the Park. The Court rejected this argument, and reasonably concluded "that the term 'residential use' . . . includes use of water within a residential setting," but does not include the "[u]se of water for cleaning and drinking in an office, commercial, or industrial setting." App. at 39–40. The Court recognized the internal tension inherent in the statutory language "residential use of water for a nonresidential

population," and it gave import to both the statutory terms "residential" and "nonresidential population" *Id.* at 42–43. The Court's interpretation is reasonable and it is consistent with a narrow construction of a statutory exception that gives effect to the intent underlying the general relinquishment provisions. *R. D. Merrill Co.*, 137 Wn.2d at 140.

Crown West argues erroneously that the Court's decision should be reversed for four main reasons. First, it asserts that the Court erred because it deemed Department of Health (Health) regulations inapposite to the interpretation of RCW 90.03.015(4)(a). Second, it asserts the Court's ruling on the meaning of RCW 90.03.015(4)(a) is ambiguous and vague, and further review is therefore needed to provide clarity to lower courts. Third, Crown West argues that remand for further fact-finding was necessary, and last, it contends that the Court erred by considering an issue that was not properly before it on appeal.

1. Department of Health regulations are inapposite

First, Crown West suggests the Legislature modeled RCW 90.03.015(4) after Health regulations concerning Group A water systems, and argues that the Court erred by discounting the relevance of these regulations when considering the legislative intent underlying the Municipal Water Law. This is mistaken; the Court correctly recognized key differences between these regulations and RCW 90.03.015(4) in terms

of both language and purpose, and appropriately considered the regulations to be of little import. App. at 44–46.

WAC 246-290-020, a Health rule defining Group A and Group B water systems, and RCW 90.03.015(4)(a) contain key differences in language and are therefore of limited relevance to one another. Group A systems include systems that "provid[e] water for human consumption," WAC 246-290-020(1), serving "fifteen or more service connections used by year-round residents," WAC 246-290-020(5)(a), or serving twenty-five or more people per day for sixty or more days within a calendar year. WAC 246-290-020(5)(b)(ii)(A), (B). In contrast, "municipal water supply purposes" includes the "beneficial use of water . . . for providing residential use of water for a nonresidential population that is, on average, at least twenty-five people for at least sixty days a year." RCW 90.03.015(4)(a). Unlike the municipal purposes described in RCW 90.03.015(4)(a), Group A systems are not limited to serving "residential purposes," "residential service connections," or "residential uses." In short, nothing in WAC 246-290-020 provides insight as to legislative intent regarding the meaning of the words "residential use of water for a nonresidential population" in RCW 90.03.015(4).

⁴ Although WAC 246-290-020(5)(b)(i) refers to "nonresidential people," which may appear similar to a "nonresidential population," it does not require that they use water in a residential manner.

To the extent that this Health rule is instructive, it would only suggest that the municipal purposes in RCW 90.03.015(4) are defined more narrowly than those uses served by Group A systems. Crown West asserts that the "residential use of water for a nonresidential population" should include potable water serving locations that people frequent on a daily basis even if they do not stay there overnight. Although Crown West's interpretation may be consistent with Health regulations, the statutory language of RCW 90.03.015(4)(a) plainly requires water to serve residential uses and residential purposes. The Court correctly recognizes that water is used for cleaning and drinking in "nearly every setting including commercial, industry, and agricultural settings, such that Crown West's broad view of the term would have few, if any, limits." App. at 40.5

Crown West is correct that the Court erroneously characterizes its water system as not being a public water system under WAC 246-290-020. However, this error is immaterial to the Court's decision and holdings. *See* App. at 46. Notwithstanding this

⁵ Moreover, the Court appropriately recognized the different policy goals furthered by Health regulations and Ecology's implementation of RCW 90.03.015(4). *See* App. at 45–46. Health regulates drinking water purity for public health purposes. WAC 246-290-001(1), (2). In contrast, Ecology manages the environmental quality of the state's waterways, RCW 90.48.010, .030, and it supervises the use of the state's water resources. RCW 43.21A.064(1), (3). Public health regulations concerning drinking water are not probative of the legislative intent underlying a statute governing the allocation of water resources.

mischaracterization, the Court's analysis is correct because it accurately identifies key differences between Health's regulations and RCW 90.03.015(4) in terms of language and purpose. Consequently, the Court properly determined that Health's regulations were inapposite to the interpretation of RCW 90.03.015(4) concerning the "residential use of water for a nonresidential population."

2. There is no ambiguity in the Court of Appeals' decision that necessitates further review

Crown West also argues that further review is necessary because of purported ambiguities in the Court's decision. It erroneously claims that the Court's statutory interpretation of the "residential use of water by a nonresidential population" is too vague to apply. It also wrongly suggests that further judicial review is necessary to clarify how the Court's decision relates to this Court's decision in *Cornelius v. Dep't of Ecology*, 182 Wn.2d 574, 344 P.3d 199 (2015).

The Court issued an appropriately narrow decision that only reached the issues that were necessary to decide the case before it. As explained in Sections IV.B and IV.B.1 above, the Court examined the relevant language of RCW 90.03.015(4)(a) and ultimately concluded that "that the term 'residential use' . . . includes use of water within a residential setting," but not the "[u]se of water for cleaning and drinking in

an office, commercial, or industrial setting." App. at 39–40. Moreover, "residential use' should allow for independent living for weeks, if not months." *Id.* at 42. The Court's Opinion provides clarity on the interpretation of RCW 90.03.015(4), and explains how Ecology should apply it on a statewide basis. Applying this standard, the Court properly determined there was no evidence supporting a finding that the sixty-five room hotel in the Park served the residential use of water for a sufficient nonresidential population. *Id.* The Court did not need to issue a broader decision on hypothetical scenarios involving facts not properly before it.

Crown West also wrongly asserts that discretionary review is warranted because it is unclear how the decision relates to this Court's decision in *Cornelius*, 182 Wn.2d 574. *See* Petition at 9. Crown West appears to be reasserting a similar argument it made with respect to the Ecology's "active compliance" interpretation.⁶

⁶ Ecology interprets the relinquishment statutes and the municipal exemption as requiring a water right to actively comply with the beneficial use definitions contained in RCW 90.03.015(4). That is, if a water right is partially unused for five consecutive years and is not used consistent with the municipal definitions during that period, then the right is subject to partial relinquishment. Crown West argued that this interpretation conflicted with *Cornelius*, which rejected a challenge to Ecology's streamlined process for making tentative determinations of extent and validity. *Cornelius*, 182 Wn.2d at 595–96. Although a tentative determination of extent and validity typically requires year-to-year evaluation of historical beneficial use to determine whether any amount of water has relinquished for nonuse, Ecology's streamlined process excuses this year-to-year showing in instances where it is certain that an exemption excuses relinquishment. *Id*.

Crown West conflates two distinct analyses: a quantitative analysis concerning the amount of water historically used, and a qualitative analysis regarding the types of uses a water right serves. While the streamlined process excuses this quantitative analysis, it does not preclude a qualitative examination of the types of beneficial uses

The Court found it unnecessary to rule on the validity of Ecology's "active compliance" interpretation based upon the facts of this case. *See*App. at 29, 35, 47. Thus, there was no need for the Court to rule on a hypothetical question regarding whether "active compliance" is consistent with the Supreme Court's ruling in *Cornelius. See id.* at 47; *see also Lummi Indian Nation v. Dep't of Ecology*, 170 Wn.2d 247, 256 n.1, 241

P.3d 1220 (2010) (an appellate court need not address every argument raised in briefing). In sum, Crown West fails to articulate how the Court's decision conflicts with *Cornelius* because no such conflict exists.

3. Remand for additional fact-finding was unnecessary

Crown West further contends that remand to the Hearings Board is necessary to determine whether water serving the sixty-five room hotel qualifies as "residential use of water for a nonresidential population that is, on average, at least twenty-five people for at least sixty days a year" under RCW 90.03.015(4)(a). Crown West argues that because the Court interpreted the statute differently than the Hearings Board did on summary judgment, different facts are therefore relevant. Specifically, Crown West claims that "the parties did not focus on the length of time guests stay at the hotel." Petition at 17. This is incorrect. This issue was thoroughly

17

occurring under the rights—indeed, a necessary prerequisite to the streamlined process is a determination that a relinquishment exemption applies in the first instance.

disputed at the Hearings Board, with the parties advancing different interpretations of RCW 90.03.015(4). Ecology argued that statutory language referred to temporary domiciles, while Crown West contended that it included potable water serving the Park's employees. *See* AR 36–37, 338–41,474–75, 508, 534–35, 556–57.

In light of Ecology's argument that the statutory language referred to temporary domiciles, Crown West had ample opportunity to supplement any factual assertions contained in the Conservancy Board record to demonstrate the existence of a genuine issue of material fact. Between the Conservancy Board record and the materials that were provided in support of the summary judgment briefing, however, there is no information concerning the hotel's occupancy or the duration of guests' stays supporting a reasonable inference that the hotel served as a temporary residence, capable of supporting independent living for an extended duration, such that water use at the hotel could qualify under the Court's interpretation of RCW 90.03.015(4)(a). See AR 36–37, 137–38, 338–41, 446, 507–08, 534–35, 604; see also App. at 42–43. Consequently, remand for further fact-finding was unnecessary and reversal of the Court's decision is unwarranted.

4. The Court of Appeals' decision was limited to issues properly before the Court

Last, Crown West unpersuasively contends that the Court erred by considering "an issue not on appeal," asserting that the Court improperly assumed a decision in Crown West's favor would enable new water uses to come out of streamflows. Petition at 16. Crown West's applications sought to add purposes of use to include mitigation, and the Conservancy Board conditionally approved the applications to allow water to be provided for "[i]nstream flows and [m]itigation for [o]ut of [s]tream [u]ses." AR 53–71, 93, 104, 115, 126. Adding mitigation as a purpose of use plainly contemplates facilitating new water uses away from the Park, and the Court properly acknowledged the predictable outcomes of Crown West's proposal.

In any event, the Court's analysis does not rely upon any conclusion that Crown West's water rights will be used to allow new uses away from the Park if the proposed changes are approved. In reaching its decision, the Court limited its analysis to evaluating the applicability of the municipal relinquishment exemption to Crown West's water rights and did not otherwise opine on the other issues that were raised before the Hearings Board but were not reached. *See* App. at 22–48. In short, the Court simply commented on the practical consequences of a ruling in

Crown West's favor, consistent with the proposal described in the Conservancy Board's conditional decision.

V. CONCLUSION

Crown West's request for discretionary review fails to meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). Ecology respectfully requests that the Supreme Court deny Crown West's Petition for Review.